Greater London Authority Mayoral Scheme of Delegation

This version of the Scheme came into force on 1 June 2015 under MD1500 and supersedes all previous versions

Factual revisions made under delegated authority on 3 May 2016 to reflect departures from the Mayoral team

Contents

Section 1: Overview

Section 2: The General Delegation to specified Senior Members of Staff

Section 3: Decisions reserved to the Mayor

Section 4: GLA Companies

Section 5: Terms and conditions applying to the General Delegation

Section 6: Format for recording decisions

Section 7: Authorised signatories to Official/ Legal Documents

Section 8: All members of GLA staff

Section 9: Updating the Scheme, further delegations and transitional matters

Section 10: Definitions and interpretation

Annex 1: Reserved Mayoral Matters

Annex 2: Specified Senior Members of Staff

Annex 3: Current GLA Subsidiary Companies

Annex 4: Examples of Official/ Legal Documents covered by Signatory Permission

Section 1: Overview

- 1.1 The London Mayoralty was created by Act of Parliament: the Greater London Authority Act 1999 ("the GLA Act"). Nearly every decision the Mayor takes, or GLA staff members take on his behalf, is supported by the exercise of a legal power which enables that decision to be taken. The GLA Act allows the Mayor to authorise (amongst others) members of GLA staff to exercise his powers under delegated arrangements; specifically under sections 38 and 380.
- 1.2 This Mayoral Scheme of Delegation ("the Scheme") covers every decision taken by the Mayor, or by a member of GLA staff on the Mayor's behalf, that involves the exercise of Mayoral powers within the GLA. It applies not only to decisions which are financial in nature but also to a range of non-financial decisions which rest with the Mayoralty. It also applies to certain GLA companies.

1.3 The Scheme sets out:

- Those "Mayoral powers" which may only be exercised by the Mayor himself, either because they are reserved by law to the Mayor or are more appropriately exercised by the Mayor alone, except in urgent circumstances or the Mayor's unavailability or where there is a potential conflict of interest. These Reserved Mayoral Matters are listed in Annex 1;
- The Mayor's powers to call-in and determine planning applications of Potential Strategic Importance (PSI), which from 1 October 2013 may be delegated to GLA staff appointed by him ("the PSI Application Powers");
- A "General Delegation" which authorises a specified Senior Member of Staff (a list is provided at Annex 2) to exercise any Mayoral power not listed in Annex 1, provided that it is within that staff member's area of responsibility;
- A similar general delegation ("the Company Director Delegation") to directors of GLA Subsidiary Companies who are also specified Senior Staff Members (with exceptions and modifications);
- The basis and other conditions to which both delegations are subject;
- A standing authorisation to GLA Subsidiary Companies and their directors to implement decisions taken by the Mayor and GLA Staff under this Scheme;
- How decisions are to be recorded e.g. by Mayoral Decision (MD) form, Director Decision (DD) form, GLRO Approval Form (GLRO-AF) Assistant Director Decision (ADD) form, Delegated Authority Record (DAR), "Record in Writing" or company minute;
- Power to execute or sign ("Signatory Permission") any formal, official, legal and other documents constituting or connected with the decision ("Official/ Legal Document"); and
- How this Scheme is to be updated, its impact on previous delegations and on further delegations.

Scope

- 1.4 This Scheme covers the taking of decisions by the Mayor and members of GLA staff. It does not, however, cover:
 - Decisions concerning the Assembly and its committees, the Head of Paid Service or Greater London Returning Officer (GLRO), for which see their individual schemes of delegation or relevant procedures.
 - Detailed matters included within the GLA's Financial Regulations and its Contracts & Funding Code, which respectively set out how the GLA manages its financial affairs and procures supplies and services and how it awards grants;
 - Delegations to the Statutory Deputy Mayor or to the functional bodies and organisations to whom the Mayor can delegate functions under sections 38 and 380 of the GLA Act (which are subject to specific Mayoral decisions);
 - Decisions by companies and their directors or shareholders/ members if the company or other body in question is not a GLA Subsidiary;
 - Any specific function transferred, conferred or imposed directly by legislation on a particular office or position at the GLA: e.g. the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer or the GLRO; and
 - The exercise by the Mayor of his powers as the occupant or holder of the office of the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC), for which reference should be made to MOPAC's Scheme of Delegation.

<u>Definition of Mayoral Powers</u>

- 1.5 A Mayoral power is a lawful ability to do something that involves the exercise of a legal power or duty ("function") which is exercisable by the Mayor, including the power to give Mayoral consent or agreement to the doing of something where required. It includes common law powers and statutory powers transferred, conferred or imposed by any Act of Parliament, any Direction or Regulation of the European Union or secondary or subordinate legislation or byelaw of any kind (whenever passed or amended) or any requirement to obtain the Mayor's consent or agreement imposed by any Mayoral direction on:
 - The office of the Mayor of London directly; or
 - The GLA but which, as a result of section 35 of the GLA Act, is exercisable only by the Mayor acting on behalf of the GLA, and includes the exercise by the Mayor of any power he is required to exercise jointly with the Assembly.
- 1.6 A Mayoral power includes the power to do anything that facilitates or is conducive or is incidental to the exercise of the function in question.

Section 2: The General Delegation to specified Senior Members of Staff

2.1 The posts specified in Annex 2 are classed as "Senior Members of Staff" for the purposes of this Scheme, being members of staff of the GLA appointed by the Mayor or the Head of Paid Service under sections 67 (1) or (2) of the GLA Act, whether full-time or part-time and including staff acting up into such posts.

The General Delegation

- 2.2 This paragraph authorises specified Senior Members of Staff to exercise any Mayoral power that is within his or her area of responsibility and which is not a matter listed in Annex 1 (Mayoral Reserved Matters), noting that:
 - The PSI Application Powers themselves may only be exercised by one of the following:
 - Chief of Staff
 - o Deputy Mayor for Education & Culture;
 - Mayoral powers may be exercised concurrently by GLA Staff in accordance with paragraph 2.4 below;
 - The GLRO and Deputy GLRO have autonomy as regards the exercise of the electoral functions of those posts and are required to exercise them independently, impartially and without political interference;¹
 - The exercise of the General Delegation is on the basis and subject to the terms and conditions set out in Section 5 below;
 - As regards any question as to the ambit of any particular specified Senior Member of Staff's area of responsibility then:
 - In the case of the Specified Mayoral Appointees listed in Annex 2, the Chief of Staff's decision will be final
 - In the case of any other member of GLA staff the Head of Paid Service's decision shall be final; and
 - The exercise of any Mayoral power under the General Delegation is deemed to include the power to do anything that facilitates or is conducive or is incidental to the exercise of the power or function in question.
- 2.3 Any specified Senior Members of Staff may ask another member of staff (who in normal circumstances would be at manager level or above) to fulfil their duties under this Scheme for a specified period of time while they are absent from the office on leave or for some other reason. The arrangement should be set out in writing via either a memo or an email, copied to interested parties, and should make it clear which functions can be undertaken by that member of staff and for what period of time.

¹ It should be noted that the GLRO has specific statutory powers conferred directly on that post by electoral law that do not rely on Mayoral powers or the General Delegation.

Concurrent exercise of powers

- 2.4 The Chief of Staff as regards the Mayoral Appointees specified in Annex 2 (only) and the Head of Paid Service as regards all other specified Senior Members of Staff may under the General Delegation respectively exercise any Mayoral power concurrently with those postholders. In addition, if necessary or expedient:
 - The Directors listed in Annex 2 may concurrently exercise the General Delegation
 within each other's areas of responsibility noting that the GLRO and Deputy GLRO
 should normally exercise the functions of those posts; and
 - Provided the delegation in question falls broadly within their own area of responsibilities, any member of GLA Staff (whether specified in Annex 2 or not) who is of an equal or a higher grade may exercise a delegation granted to another GLA staff member, including under the General Delegation or where the delegation in question is granted (previously or in the future) outside this Scheme to a specific named postholder(s). Each also has Signatory Permission in relation to any connected or related Official/ Legal Document.

The PSI Application Powers

- 2.5 Since 1 October 2013 the following Mayoral powers are no longer required to be exercised by the Mayor personally as a consequence of section 28 of the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013:
 - The function of giving a direction under section 2A (1) or (1B) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 that the Mayor is to be the local planning authority to determine an application of potential strategic importance ("PSI Application"); and/or
 - The function of determining such called-in PSI Applications by virtue of section 2A or 2B of that Act.

These powers ("the PSI Application Powers") may only be exercised by members of GLA Staff appointed by the Mayor under section 67(1) of the GLA Act and cannot be delegated to staff appointed by the Head of Paid Service. They must be exercised in accordance with the requirements of the Town and Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 2008 (SI 2008/580, as amended) and relevant planning legislation.

- 2.6 The following postholders appointed by the Mayor under section 67(1) of the GLA Act are separately and individually authorised to exercise the PSI Application Powers:
 - Chief of Staff; and
 - Deputy Mayor for Education & Culture.

on the basis that different postholders may exercise different functions in relation to the same PSI Application (e.g. one may make the determination to call-in and another may determine the application).

- 2.7 The function of determining a PSI Application includes power to:
 - Refuse planning permission and to determine reasons for refusal, or

- Grant planning permission, including to grant permission subject to any conditions, informatives or notes considered appropriate, to determine their content and reasons for imposing them.
- 2.8 As with all other Mayoral powers, the Mayor reserves the right to exercise the PSI Application Powers himself alongside the above staff and any other planning function.

Guidance and updates etc

- 2.9. The Head of Paid Service may from time to time confirm or update and issue:
 - A description of the ambit of any specified Senior Member of Staff's area of responsibilities;
 - A definitive list of posts to be regarded as Senior Members of Staff for the purposes of this Scheme; and
 - Instructions and guidance as to the ambit and exercise of the General Delegation and the GLA Company Director Delegation, the Signatory Permission, and what is regarded as an Official/ Legal Document for the purposes of this Scheme, including policies and procedures to be followed in relation to those matters and in relation to GLA Company Directors and GLA Subsidiary Companies.

Section 3: Decisions reserved to the Mayor

- 3.1 Annex 1 (Mayoral Reserved Matters) includes powers:
 - Reserved by law for the personal exercise of the Mayor alone: a Mayoral power that
 by its terms is prohibited from being delegated by the Mayor to anyone (whether a
 member of GLA staff or not) or by its terms it is apparent that the power is only to
 be exercised by the Mayor on a personal basis. A non-exhaustive list is contained in
 Part 1 of Annex 1; and
 - Others Mayoral powers which are capable of delegation but where it is usually only appropriate for the Mayor to take the decision: a definitive list is contained in Part 2 of Annex 1.
- 3.2 The exercise of the Mayoral powers relating to the matters listed in Annex 1 ("Mayoral Reserved Matters") is reserved to the Mayor alone, but in relation to the matters listed in Part 2 of Annex 1 (only) the *Urgency etc* procedures in paragraphs 3.3 to 3.6 below permit others to take those decisions in the circumstances described.
 - <u>Urgency, unavailability and other circumstances: Annex 1, Part 2 Reserved Mayoral Matters</u>
- 3.3 Notwithstanding anything in this Scheme to the contrary, the following listed postholders are separately and individually authorised to act in place of the Mayor to exercise a Mayoral power listed in Part 2 of Annex 1 to the same extent and to the same level of authority for financial commitments (if any) as the Mayor can authorise (and each has Signatory Permission in respect of any related or connected Official/ Legal Document) in the circumstances set out below:

Postholder authorised to act:	Relevant circumstance	Following consultation with:
Chief of StaffHead of Paid Service	Urgent circumstances when the Mayor is unavailable to act	The Mayor and with each other (unless impracticable in the circumstances)
Chief of StaffHead of Paid Service	The circumstances are not urgent but the Mayor: 2) is unavailable to act; or 3) considers it would be inappropriate to personally exercise the Annex 1 Part 2 power in question in the circumstances (e.g. in cases of a potential personal or other conflict of interest or where there is a risk of pre-determination or he does not wish to prejudice his future involvement in the matter etc.)	The Mayor and with each other
 Any specified Mayoral appointee Any Director 	As in (2) or (3) above.	The Mayor, the Chief of Staff and the Head of Paid Service

- 3.4 When it is considered inappropriate for the Mayor to exercise a power listed in Part 2 of Annex 1, the circumstances for invoking the procedures in paragraph 3.3 above shall be stated in the record of the decision.
- 3.5 "Unavailable to act" (above) refers to circumstances where the Mayor is able to act but unavailable rather than "temporarily unable to act" which is the situation described in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 of the GLA Act:
 - The Mayor is *temporarily unable to act* under paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 where there is no vacancy in the office of Mayor but the Mayor is unable to act in his/her office by reason of illness, imprisonment or absence abroad or for any other reason;
 - In these limited circumstances the Statutory Deputy Mayor (or the Chair of the Assembly if the office of Statutory Deputy Mayor is vacant at the time) becomes the "Acting Mayor"; and
 - Where there is an Acting Mayor the procedures under Schedule 4 of the GLA Act shall apply and the Acting Mayor shall take the place of the Mayor under this Scheme.
- 3.6 The powers listed in Part 1 of Annex 1 are incapable of delegation by the Mayor and so cannot be exercised by the Chief or Staff or the Head of Paid Service etc even under the *Urgency etc* procedures above.

Section 4: GLA Companies

GLA Companies

- 4.1 The GLA can establish or become involved in companies where to do so facilitates the exercise of a Mayoral power. The GLA may own shares in the company (where a company limited by shares) or be a member of the company (where a company limited by guarantee). The GLA often will appoint one or more of its board of directors from members of GLA staff. The company may be wholly owned by the GLA or the extent of the GLA's interest in it (together with rights under any connected shareholders or members' agreements) may be such that it is essentially controlled by the GLA and so is classed under company law as a "subsidiary" of the GLA (as defined by section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006). It should also be noted:
 - In certain circumstances the GLA may only carry on particular defined activities ("Specified Activities"²) for a commercial purpose if it does so through a company that is a subsidiary of the GLA: see section 34B of the GLA Act; and
 - In addition, the law recognises that although the Mayor may not transfer his ability to take decisions involving the exercise of Mayoral powers to a GLA Subsidiary Company (as this would be an unlawful delegation) he can implement his decisions through a GLA subsidiary company, and he may authorise such a company and its directors to do so on his behalf.
- 4.2 Annex 3 contains a list of current GLA Subsidiary Companies, their type, status and details of directorships and other details (see below).

Implementation of GLA decisions through GLA Subsidiary Companies

- 4.3 Every GLA Subsidiary Company, and each GLA Company Director, is authorised to take any action through the Company ("implementing action") considered necessary or expedient for the purposes of implementing a decision of the Mayor or of a specified Senior Member of Staff ("the GLA Decision") under this Scheme (including doing anything incidental to, conducive to or which facilitates the implementation of the GLA Decision in question) subject to any contrary requirement under company law.
 - If the GLA Decision requires a decision form, then that form is sufficient to authorise the Company's implementing action and no further decision form is required (in addition, the decision form does not need to expressly authorise the company to implement it as this paragraph provides the necessary authority to do so);
 - If the GLA Decision is one taken that can be taken under the General Delegation or this Scheme without a decision form, then this paragraph and the General Delegation are sufficient to authorise the Company's implementing action.

² See the Greater London Authority (Specified Activities) Order 2013 (SI 2013/973).

4.4 Paragraphs 4.5 to 4.8 below only apply to decisions and actions <u>unconnected</u> with the implementation of a GLA Decision through a GLA Subsidiary Company, and to decisions of the Company itself, e.g. approval of the company's accounts.

Exercise of Company powers

- In a similar fashion to Mayoral powers, the company has legal powers to do things that are described in its Memorandum or Articles of Association, common law powers and statutory powers transferred, conferred or imposed by legislation on the company itself (collectively called "Company powers"). Generally speaking, a company that is a GLA Subsidiary Company cannot do things that the Mayor and/or GLA have no Mayoral power to do. Company law and the individual company's Articles of Association govern who can exercise Company powers and take decisions on its behalf: some decisions may only be taken by its members/shareholders in a company general meeting while others are delegated to or to be exercised by the company's board of directors, collectively or individually.
- 4.6 This Scheme permits GLA Company Directors (those specified Senior Members of Staff who are directors of the GLA Subsidiary Companies as listed in Annex 3) to authorise decisions and actions on the relevant Company's behalf (see the "Company Director Delegation" below).

The Company Director Delegation

- 4.7 Every GLA Company Director is authorised by his or her relevant GLA Subsidiary Company and under this Scheme to take any action or decision which involves the exercise of a Company power where the matter:
 - Is within the Mayoral powers of the Mayor and/or the GLA to do so;
 - Is not by law reserved to a decision of:
 - o the Company in general meeting and/or is not delegated to its board; or
 - o a meeting of its board; and
 - Is not contrary to any relevant provision of company legislation or rule of company law (but where the authorisation granted under this paragraph shall so far as possible operate to accommodate any such provision or rule).

In exercising this Delegation the Director is expected, as a matter of best practice, to seek the views of the lead member of the Mayoral Team for that policy area as advised by the Governance Team.

- 4.8 The authorisation under paragraph 4.7 above to an individual GLA Director shall cease immediately without notice upon:
 - That person ceasing to be a director of the Company, or
 - That person ceasing to be a member of GLA staff, or to occupy a post listed in Annex 2 or that post ceasing to be listed in that Annex; or
 - The company ceasing to be a GLA Subsidiary Company.

- Recording of company decisions
- 4.9 Actions and decisions of a GLA Company Director and/or GLA Subsidiary Company unconnected with the implementation of a GLA Decision shall be recorded in accordance with the requirements of the Company's articles or as otherwise provided by the Company from time to time.
- 4.10 All GLA members of staff of whatever grade have, in the ordinary course of their duties within their areas of responsibility, and subject to the supervision or direction of their line manager, power to undertake the matters set out in paragraph 8.1 below on behalf of a GLA Subsidiary Company subject to anything that under company law is required to be done by a company director or by the company's secretary.
- 4.11 Where a GLA Subsidiary Company takes the form of a limited liability partnership then the above provisions, and this Scheme, including Sections 4 and 7 in particular, shall be adapted accordingly, e.g. an Incorporation Document shall replace its Memorandum or Articles etc.
 - Signatory Permission of GLA Company Directors and other staff
- 4.12 Each single GLA Company Director has Signatory Permission under the Company Director Delegation to sign or execute any Official/ Legal Document for and on behalf of the GLA Subsidiary Company that he or she is a director of, including in relation to any implementing action taken in accordance with paragraph 4.3 above. (Paragraphs 7. 3 and 7.4 below apply as regards the scope of the permission and definition of Official/ Legal Document.)

Section 5: Terms and conditions applying to the General Delegation

- 5.1 The exercise of the General Delegation by specified Senior Members of Staff is on the following basis and subject to the following terms and conditions set out below.
- 5.2 Excluded from the ambit of the General Delegation is the exercise of any power relating to any matter listed in Annex 1 (Mayoral Reserved Matters).
- 5.3 Also excluded is the exercise of the PSI Application Powers by anyone other than the postholders listed in paragraph 2.6 above.
 - Concurrent exercise by Mayor
- 5.4 The Mayor may exercise any Mayoral power in place of or concurrently with any specified Senior Members of Staff under the General Delegation. In relation to the Greater London Returning Officer's (GLRO) functions described in paragraph 5.22 below, the Mayor will first consult the GLRO and the Executive Director of Resources.

Preliminary Matters

Consultation with policy leads

In exercising the General Delegation, all staff are expected as a matter of best practice to seek the views of the lead member of the Mayoral Team for that policy area. Where a Mayoral Decision (MD) form is required for the decision, the relevant lead will be required to confirm whether the proposal has their endorsement. For certain matters,

such as responding to Government consultations, making submissions to Select Committee enquiries and entering into dialogue with the European Union, staff are expected to exercise judgement in assessing whether their work is purely technical in nature (formal sign-off not required) or more wide-ranging with the possibility that extracts might be quoted as being policy assertions attributable to the Mayor. The Government Relations team should be consulted on such matters.

Novel, contentious or repercussive proposals

- 5.6 If any proposed action or decision to be taken in reliance of the General Delegation can objectively be considered to be novel, contentious or repercussive then the matter in question must be referred to the Mayor to approve (i.e. by an MD in the normal way) unless "Permission to Proceed" has been given under paragraph 5.7 below. The Head of Paid Service may issue guidance as to what may or may not be considered novel, contentious or repercussive and staff are encouraged to seek advice from their line manager or the Governance Team if they are at all unsure as to what sort of proposal might reasonably be considered to be "novel, contentious or repercussive".
- 5.7 The requirement to refer matters to the Mayor under paragraph 5.6 above shall not apply:
 - To expenditure approved by the Mayor's approval of the GLA-wide Budget in March each year including "routine" or "Non-Programme Budget" expenditure (as defined in paragraph 5.12 below) and any programme-level approval of the Affordable Housing Programme;
 - To the GLRO's functions;
 - To any town and country planning functions of the Mayor or GLA, including the PSI Application Powers;
 - To the Executive Director of Resources' functions in connection with the enforcement of the Trafalgar Square and Parliament Square byelaws;
 - To matters covered by paragraphs 5.28 to 5.31 below; or
 - Where any one of the following: the Mayor, Chief of Staff, Head of Paid Service or Executive Director of Resources, has by Record in Writing given the person concerned "Permission to Proceed" with the proposed action or decision, unless there is a material change in circumstances. Where Permission to Proceed is given, the matter can be determined by the specified Senior Member of Staff in the normal way and the Governance Team will advise on how the decision is to be recorded.

Recording of decision

- 5.8 A record of all decisions involving Mayoral powers (whether involving expenditure or not) shall be kept in the format set out in Section 6 below.
 - Table 2 summarises the agreed approach for gaining approval and indicates the type of decision form or other record to use but guidance should be sought from the Governance team;
 - Decisions and implementing actions of GLA Subsidiary Companies and GLA
 Company Directors in pursuance of a decision by the Mayor or a specified Senior
 Member of Staff under this Scheme may rely on the decision form (if any) relating
 to the Mayor or Senior Member of Staff's decision (see paragraph 4.3 above); and

• It should be noted that decision forms are not required to initiate a procurement or grant award exercise or to authorise the award of individual grants or contracts and these actions can all be undertaken within the scope of the General Delegation (see further paragraphs 5.25 and 5.26 below).

Compliance with GLA Budget procedures

- 5.9 The Mayor agrees a detailed GLA-wide Budget in late March each year for the financial year starting in the April immediately following.
 - The GLA-wide budget is divided between "Programme" and Non-Programme" expenditure. Non-Programme expenditure is often called "Routine Expenditure" and is defined in paragraph 5.12 below. Unless the Governance Team advise otherwise, all expenditure not falling within paragraph 5.12 should be regarded as Programme Expenditure (i.e. as "non-routine expenditure");
 - All Routine Expenditure elements of the GLA-wide budget are deemed to be approved at the point the Mayor agrees that budget in March each year, and such expenditure requires no further formal approval, whatever the value (see paragraph 5.13 below); and
 - A separate process applies for the approval of expenditure from the Programme Expenditure Budget, as follows.

General approach

Assistant Directors and Heads of Unit are expected to bring forward a paper covering each area of GLA work in its entirety (e.g. culture, environment) to either of the Investment and Performance Board (IPB) or, in the case of housing programmes and land, the Housing Investment Group (HIG). The papers will set out how the Programme Expenditure Budget earmarked by the Mayor will be allocated to individual projects and what outputs and outcomes the GLA can expect from its investment.

Affordable Housing Programme

o Expenditure on the GLA's Affordable Housing Programmes (currently grouped under the heading of the "Mayor's Housing Covenant" programmes) sits within the Programme Expenditure Budget but different rules apply. A programme-level approval, in the form of a Mayoral Decision (MD), is required to approve an overall programme budget and timetable to which outputs will be delivered. As a result, the approval thresholds at paragraph 5.14 below do not apply and no further decision forms (MDs, DDs, ADDs etc) are necessary to approve expenditure or other financial commitments within the Affordable Housing Programme Budget. A summary of the additional allocations made under the overall programme approvals will be published on a quarterly basis. The Governance Team should be consulted regarding the documenting of significant decisions or stages in implementing the programme. In addition the GLA-wide Budget approved by the Mayor each year sets out expenditure and outcomes for the Affordable Housing Programme, which the programme must be managed within.

Other Programme Expenditure

o Following the IPB or HIG meeting, the appropriate decision form should be completed depending on the level of other Programme expenditure involved (it will normally be an MD as the value is likely to be over £150,000). That decision form should reflect the approach agreed at either IPB or HIG and it should also indicate whether expenditure on all projects in that work area or programme is to be regarded as agreed in its entirety (in which case that decision form gives the necessary approval and no further decision form is necessary to authorise spending decisions on the individual projects within it) or what further approvals for individual projects are to be required and when this is likely. Unless some other arrangement is approved by that form, the approval thresholds set out in paragraph 5.14 below will apply to authorise expenditure on those individual projects (subject to the normal rules on novel, contentious or repercussive proposals).

Expenditure and definition of other financial commitments

- 5.10 Every decision or action involving a "financial commitment" must be taken in accordance with the following rules and must comply with Financial Regulations and, where applicable, the Contracts and Funding Code.
- 5.11 A "financial commitment" covers a commitment to:
 - Expenditure by the GLA;
 - The creation of a guarantee or contingent liability by the GLA in favour of a third party (other than one on normal commercial terms); or
 - The generation of income or a monetary payment in favour of the GLA (capital or revenue and whether immediate, contingent or deferred) including from the disposal of GLA land or property.

A commitment should be valued on the basis of the aggregate value directly or indirectly arising from it e.g. a 10 year contract or lease with an annual payment/income of £20,000 should be valued at £200,000. (See paragraph 5.16 below for mixed commitments and variations.)

Routine financial commitments

- 5.12 "Routine expenditure" is for the purposes of this Scheme defined as follows:
 - The following items constitute examples of routine expenditure (the list is not exhaustive and further quidance can be provided by the Governance team):
 - Salaries and payments to temporary staff and secondees;
 - Indirect employee costs such as travel;
 - Office supplies and services such as stationery and printing;
 - o Purchase of books, publications and data; subscriptions to organisations;
 - Accommodation costs including rent, rates, insurance, and service charges;
 - Payments made under contracts for cleaning, maintenance, catering and for other facilities and estate management services;

- Routine IT expenditure, such as purchase of IT equipment and payment for blackberries; and
- O Routine Land and Property Transactions³: including the following non-exhaustive examples of land or property related transactions concluded at arm's length on normal commercial terms such as the granting of leases, tenancies etc, assignments, short term licences, consents in relation to easements, rights of light etc, amendments to existing contractual relationships of a non-financial nature (e.g. the relaxation of user clause), amendments to existing contractual relationships of a financial nature (e.g. rent review or adjustment of rent or payment period to assist tenant if in the interest of the GLA), relaxation, removal or other aspects relating to charges, historical grant/endowment situations where they relate to property inherited from predecessor bodies.
- Income or monetary payments in favour of the GLA: unless a Routine Land and Property Transaction or the Governance Team advise otherwise, the creation of an obligation to pay income or make a monetary payment to the GLA should be treated as a non-routine financial commitment, and as a result authorisation must be obtained in accordance with paragraph 5.14 below and Financial Regulation 16.
- Contingent liabilities: unless a Routine Land and Property Transaction or the Governance Team advise otherwise, the creation of any new contingent liability by the GLA in favour of a third party (unless one on normal commercial terms) should be treated as a <u>non-routine</u> financial commitment, and as a result authorisation must be obtained in accordance with paragraph 5.14 below.
- Anything <u>not</u> treated as a routine expenditure or regarded as some other type of routine financial commitment under the above rules should be regarded for the purposes of this Scheme as involving *Programme expenditure* or a *non-routine financial commitment*, requiring authorisation under paragraph 5.14 below.

Approval of routine expenditure and other routine financial commitments

- 5.13 Every member of GLA Staff (whether listed in Annex 2 or not) may, in the ordinary course of their duties and subject to the supervision or direction of their line manager, authorise the entering into of routine expenditure or other type of routine financial commitment (including a Routine Land and Property Transaction):
 - This is the case even where the value is above £150,000 or unlimited;
 - Decision forms (MD, DD, ADD) are not normally used for routine expenditure or other routine financial commitments, but advice should be sought from the Governance Team regarding the documenting of significant decisions or stages in implementing agreed budgets and programmes; otherwise decisions authorising routine expenditure and other types of financial commitment should be documented by a DAR or Record in Writing as appropriate; and
 - The above rules also apply to expenditure under the Affordable Housing Programme and related or connected routine financial commitments.

[•] Note that the acquisition or disposal by the GLA of the freehold of any land or the leasehold of land where the lease is for a term of 7 years or more is a decision reserved to the Mayor under Part 2 of Annex 1.

Approval of Programme expenditure and non-routine financial commitments

- 5.14 Authorisation for all Programme Expenditure or other types of non-routine financial commitment (except in relation to the Affordable Housing Programme and any CPO Compensation Payments) must be obtained from the appropriate person in accordance with the following thresholds (unless such approval has already been given):
 - Unlimited value, and all exceeding £150,000, the approval decision must be taken by the Mayor;
 - Up to £150,000 in value, the decision must be taken by (at least) a Director, as defined in Annex 2:
 - Up to £50,000 in value, the decision must be taken by (at least) an Assistant Director or a Head of Service, as defined in Annex 2 it is expected that proposals under £50,000 would not normally be signed off by Directors unless there was a good reason for them to do so; and
 - Up to £10,000 in value, the decision must be taken by (at least) a Manager.

Table 2 indicates the type of decision form to use (e.g. MD, DD, ADD etc) to authorise Programme expenditure or a non-routine financial commitment.

CPO Compensation Payments

5.15 The settlement of CPO Compensation Claims of any value (including over £150,000) may be approved by the Executive Director of Housing & Land and the Head of Financial Services (or in their absence or unavailability, the Assistant Director: Strategic Projects & Property and the Principal Accountant (Revenue) respectively) acting jointly, and following advice from the GLA's retained professional advisors as to the appropriate level of payment (including fees etc) in settlement of any claim. Given the commercial requirement to act quickly in these cases, the exercise of this delegation does not require a decision form.

Mixed commitments and variations

- Some decisions will involve a mixture of different financial commitment types and/or values (e.g. non-routine expenditure of £105,000 and a future receipt of £115,000 and approval of other matters at nil value). Where this is the case, the decision should be taken at the level appropriate to the aggregate level. In the example quoted, an MD should be completed.
- 5.17 Decisions involving variations to the value of previously authorised financial commitments (e.g. where contract or grant payments are to be varied to exceed previously authorised amounts) must be dealt with in accordance with Financial Regulations.

Table 2: Approval methods for decisions (including novel contentious or repercussive decisions ("NCR") of any value)

ROUTINE EXPENDITURE AND OTHER ROUTINE FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS (irrespective of value)			
Routine (Non-Programme) expenditure or other routine financial commitment types	Record in Writing or DAR (as advised by Governance Team)	The Novel/ Contentious/ Repercussive ("NCR") rules do not apply to routine expenditure.	
PROGRAMME EXPENDITURE AND OTHER NON-ROUTINE FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS (NOT NOVEL CONTENTIOUS OR REPERCUSSIVE)			
Up to £10,000	Delegated Authority Record (DAR)		
Up to £50,000	Assistant Director Decision Form (ADD)		
Up to £150,000	Director Decision Form (DD)		
Over £150,000 or where unlimited	Mayoral Decision Form (MD)		
Affordable Housing Programme (within approved budget): any value	Routine record keeping	These Programmes are approved in the GLA-wide Budget. The NCR rules do not apply.	
CPO Compensation Payments: any value	Routine record keeping	See the delegation to Executive Director of Housing & Land and the Head of Financial Services at paragraph 5.15 above.	

NOVEL, CONTENTIOUS OR REPERCUSSIVE DECISIONS REGARDING PROGRAMME EXPENDITURE AND OTHER NON-ROUTINE FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS (irrespective of value)		
Applies only to Programme Expenditure or other non- routine financial commitment types	Mayoral Decision Form (MD) unless exempt or Permission to Proceed has been given (see para 5.7) when Governance Team will advise on how decision is to be recorded.	If Permission to Proceed to a NCR proposal has been given under para 5.7 then the above approval thresholds for Programme Expenditure and other non-routine commitment types under paragraph 5.14 apply in the normal way.
"Permission to Proceed" to a potentially NCR proposal	by Mayor, Chief of Staff, Head of Paid Service or Executive Director of Resources	A record in auditable form whether in hardcopy or softcopy in a memo or in an email that is properly filed or archived, and is traceable and capable of retrieval

5.18 **Table 3** summarises the agreed procurement process to be followed for the procurement of works, services or supplies by the GLA or GLA Subsidiary Company.

Table 3: Procurement process to be followed for works, services and supplies

Estimated contract value	Procurement process
Goods and services: up to £10,000 Works and land development opportunities: up to £25,000	(i) Seek a call-off from a suitable framework, where possible (ii) If not, decide whether it would be preferable to opt for a single supplier route or a competitive tendering route (iii) If using a single supplier, secure value for money (iv) If opting for competitive tendering, seek three or more written quotes and attach all quotes received to the shopping cart
Goods and services: £10,000 to £150,000 Works and land development opportunities: £25,000 to £4,000,000	(i) Seek a call-off from a suitable framework, where possible (ii) If not, undertake a formal tender process which will be managed by TfL Commercial via eTendering
Goods and services: above £150,000 Works and land development opportunities: above £4,000,000	(i) Seek a call-off from a suitable framework, where possible (ii) If not, undertake a tender process compliant with the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 which can take up to a year

Compliance with Central Programme Budget procedures

5.19 If the source of funding for a proposal is from the Central Programme Budget, then the arrangements in place for the approval of expenditure against the Central Programme Budget should be followed.

- Compliance with laws and approved GLA policies etc.
- 5.20 The exercise of Mayoral powers shall be in accordance with all applicable laws and procedures, taking legal advice where appropriate, and in accordance with all approved and applicable GLA procedures current at the time, including the GLA's:
 - Financial Regulations;
 - Contracts and Funding Code;
 - Obligations concerning best value and value for money generally, including in relation to the disposal of GLA housing and regeneration land in accordance with section 333ZC of the GLA Act; and
 - Code of Ethics for Staff and (where applicable) the planning protocols for those GLA Staff supporting or exercising delegated planning powers (including the PSI Application Powers).

Compliance with Specified Activities Order

5.21 The exercise of any Mayoral power which involves an activity specified in the Specified Activities Order must be carried on by the GLA through a company that meets the requirements of section 34A of the GLA Act.

Safeguard for GLRO's functions

- 5.22 Subject to paragraphs 2.4 and 5.4 above, in order to preserve their impartiality and independence, only the GLRO may exercise Mayoral powers under the General Delegation in support of his functions as GLRO under the GLA Act and/or as Proper Officer under the Representation of the People Acts regarding the preparation and conduct of any election of the Mayor of London or the members of the London Assembly (constituency members or London members) or upon a vacancy, or otherwise in support of the GLRO's/ Proper Officer's functions under any other enactment concerning any other election or referendum. If the GLRO is unavailable to act then the Deputy GLRO (DGLRO) may act in place of the GLRO/ Proper Officer.
- 5.23 Given the corporate nature of the GLRO functions, it is expected that the GLRO would consult the Executive Director of Resources before taking formal decisions involving a Mayoral power.

Actions which can be taken under the General Delegation

5.24 The following is a non-exhaustive list of the actions that can be taken at any time by specified Senior Members of Staff under the General Delegation.

Procurement exercises and award of contracts/ grants

5.25 The General Delegation includes power to commence and undertake on the GLA's behalf any value for money (VFM) or public procurement exercise (statutory or not) considered necessary or expedient in anticipation, or in consequence, of the decision or action to be taken. This includes approval of any matter involved in those processes e.g. approval of the applicable procurement procedure, the publication of OJEU notices of any kind, approval of specifications and evaluation criteria, tender documents etc. If, however, the exercise of any procurement function can be viewed as novel, contentious or repercussive, or were the exercise to become such, then approval to proceed should be sought under paragraphs 5.6 and 5.7 above.

5.26 The General Delegation also includes power to initiate a procurement or grant award exercise or to authorise the award of individual grants or contracts as a result of any appropriate VFM or procurement process conducted in accordance with the Contracts and Funding Code. These actions can be undertaken within the scope of the General Delegation without the need for a decision form, although care should be taken to ensure that any necessary financial approvals are in place and/or that any proposed action does not require Mayoral approval because it is novel, contentious or repercussive.

Setting fees and charges etc

- 5.27 The General Delegation includes power to waive or to require the payment by any person of any fee, monetary payment or charge and to set these on any permitted basis or scale (e.g. cost-recovery, not for profit, commercial or trading or other basis) including as to different cases or circumstances, but only if:
 - The relevant Mayoral power expressly permits this or (otherwise) there is some legal power to do so (e.g. under section 401A of the GLA Act, sections 93 to 99 of the Local Government Act 2003 or under the Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970); and
 - The Executive Director of Resources has been consulted about any potential budgetary implications of making or waiving the fee, payment or charge.

Negotiations and agreement of Official/ Legal Documents etc

5.28 The General Delegation includes power to undertake on the GLA's behalf any appropriate discussions or negotiations with relevant parties and to agree the terms of any decision or action to be taken and the terms of any connected or related Official/Legal Document.

Publications etc

5.29 The General Delegation includes power to publish on the Mayor's and/or GLA's behalf any material and document for any appropriate purpose on the GLA's website or other publications (including advertising) and/or to arrange for its printing and supply (including at a fee) to any person. As a matter of best practice the Assistant Director of London Engagement, the Head of Media or the Head of Public and Community Liaison (as appropriate) should be consulted.

Legal advice and legal proceedings

- 5.30 The General Delegation includes power to take advice from the GLA's Legal Advisors from time to time. It also includes power to instruct them to undertake any legal proceedings for or on behalf of the Mayor and/or GLA before any court or tribunal or arbitrator or similar body or person with appropriate judicial or administrative jurisdiction or functions including taking any action considered necessary or expedient in order to pursue, protect or defend the Mayor's or GLA's interests in any actual or threatened legal proceedings, subject to the following as a matter of best practice:
 - Liaison with the Executive Director of Resources, including in relation to the GLA incurring expenditure on legal or expert advice and support or concerning any significant proposal to commence or be a party to or to settle or withdraw from proceedings or to pay damages, compensation or costs;

- Full cooperation with the GLA's Legal Advisors who are to have sole care and conduct of the proceedings; and
- Keeping a Record in Writing of decisions or actions taken regarding significant steps or stages in the proceedings.

Signing of documents

5.31 The General Delegation includes power in accordance with Section 7 below for every specified Senior Member of Staff to execute or sign, for or on behalf of the Mayor and/or the GLA ("Signatory Permission"), any instrument or other document including those intended to have legal force and effect or significance (an "Official/ Legal Document" as defined in paragraph 7.4) which is connected or related to the decision in question or is considered necessary or expedient to implement it.

Section 6: Format for recording decisions 4

- 6.1 Every decision or action supported by the exercise of a Mayoral power should normally be recorded in writing and preserved in an auditable form:
 - This enables the relevant policy, equalities, consultation, legal and financial implications to be considered and recorded, and aids transparency in decisionmaking and proper audit;
 - The requirement to record applies even where the value is nil or there are no financial commitments or implications (direct or indirect, including contingent liabilities) for the GLA arising from the decision e.g. a Mayoral appointment or direction;
 - "Record in Writing" (below) requires that the action or decision must be recorded in an auditable form whether in hardcopy or softcopy in a memo or in an email that is properly filed or archived, and is traceable and capable of retrieval; and

The Governance Team will provide quidance about how decisions should be recorded.

6.2 **Table 4** sets out the requirements as to the format for recording decisions (decision forms") for particular decisions by the Mayor, specified Senior Members of Staff under the General Delegation and GLA staff generally in other circumstances: by Mayoral Decision Form (MD), Director Decision Form (DD), Assistant Director Decision Form (ADD), GLRO Approval Form (GLRO-AF), Delegated Authority Record (DAR), and a Record in Writing.

⁴ Section 6 does not apply to the recording of decisions by GLA Directors for and on behalf of GLA Subsidiary Companies that are <u>unconnected</u> with the implementation of a GLA Decision under paragraph 4.3 (in which case the relevant GLA decision form – if any – is sufficient). Under para 4.10 such a decision must be recorded in accordance with the requirements of the Company's Articles or as otherwise agreed by the Company

Table 4: Recording GLA decisions

GLA: recording decisions		Document to use	Comments
Th	The Mayor		
1.	Annex 1 Matters	Mayoral Decision form (MD)	Includes decisions or actions involving nil value or no GLA expenditure or other financial commitment.
2.	Novel, contentious or repercussive ("NCR") decisions of any value (including nil value) or otherwise where advised by the Governance Team to be appropriate	Mayoral Decision form (MD) unless exempt or Permission to Proceed given (see para 5.7).	Annex 1, Part 2 matters can be exercised by others under the Urgency etc procedures in paragraphs 3.3 to 3.6 above.
3.	Programme expenditure or other Non-routine financial commitment (except Affordable Housing Programmes or CPO Compensation Payments) where value is unlimited and in all cases >£150k	Mayoral Decision form (MD)	
4.	Appointment to a remunerated position established under section 30 of the GLA Act.	Mayoral Decision form (MD)	The payment of travel or subsistence expenses/ allowances when on official business does not amount to remuneration.
5.	All Mayoral appointments not falling within 4 above.	A Mayoral letter	This includes: all GLA staff appointment under s 67(1) of the GLA Act, any statutory power of appointment to a position, office or body and any appointment to a non-remunerated position relying on section 30 of the GLA Act.
6.	Mayor's GLA Group budget proposals	Consultation budget proposals and budget document itself	This covers the consultation budget proposals and the formal Draft Consolidated Budget and the Final Draft Budget as presented to the Assembly.
7.	Details of GLA's own annual budget	Mayoral Decision form (MD)	

GL	A: recording decisions	Document to use	Comments
The	The Mayor (continued)		
8.	Exercise of town and country planning powers	Any of the following as advised by the Assistant Director of Planning as appropriate and applicable in the circumstances: • Letter • Report to Mayor's Planning& SDS Meeting • Statutory notice or document in appropriate or prescribed form • Mayoral Decision form (MD) or other type of decision form • Record in Writing	Includes the exercise of PSI Application Powers by Mayoral appointed staff listed in para 2.6 above. Letters may be signed for and on behalf of the Mayor or on behalf of staff listed in paragraph 2.6 above by the Assistant Director of Planning or anyone reporting to that post.
Dir	ectors (see Annex 2)		
9.	Programme expenditure and other Non-routine financial commitments up to £150k not previously authorised	Director Decision form (DD)	Except Affordable Housing Programmes and CPO Compensation Payments
10.	Other delegated decisions involving the formal exercise of a Mayoral power	As appropriate according to circumstances but should be either a DD or a "Record in Writing" as advised by the Governance Team	Includes decisions or actions involving nil value or no GLA expenditure or other financial commitment type. Approval of CPO Compensation Payments should use a Director Decision form (DD)

GLA: recording decisions	Document to use	Comments
Other specified Senior Members of Staff (see Annex 2)		
11. Programme expenditure and other Non-routine financial commitments not previously authorised (up to £50k)	Assistant Director Decision form (ADD)	
12. Other delegated decisions involving the formal exercise of a Mayoral power	As appropriate according to circumstances but should be either a ADD or a "Record in Writing" as advised by the Governance Team	Includes decisions or actions involving nil value or no GLA expenditure or other financial commitment type.
Managers		
13. Programme expenditure and other Non-routine financial commitments not previously authorised (up to £5k)	Delegated Authority Record (DAR)	
All staff		
14. Affordable Housing Programme expenditure and other related financial commitment types.	"Record in Writing"	Includes decisions or actions involving nil value or no GLA expenditure or other financial commitment type
15. Routine expenditure of any value, even over £150K	"Record in Writing"	
16. Work in support of decisions	Standard record keeping	

Section 7: Authorised signatories to Official/ Legal Documents

- 7.1 Some decisions are taken and implemented by the decision-maker (Mayor or specified Senior Members of Staff) through simply executing (signing) the relevant decision form (e.g. MD, DD, DAR etc). Other decisions, however, require a separate or stand-alone instrument or document to be signed and it is this "Official/ Legal Document" (defined below) which formally constitutes the exercise of the particular legal power itself (e.g. a direction, notice, order or byelaw) or which implements the decision in a recognised legal form (e.g. a contract or a lease). The definition also extends to official documents of any sort.
- 7.2 Official/ Legal Documents can be executed by the Mayor, including for and on behalf of the GLA. They may also be executed by GLA staff or GLA Company Director for, or on behalf of, the Mayor, the GLA or a GLA Subsidiary Company, in accordance with the following rules.
- 7.3 *"Signatory Permission"* in this Scheme:
 - Is the authorisation to execute an Official/ Legal Document which constitutes, implements or is otherwise is connected or related to the discharge or implementation of a Mayoral power or a decision supported by a Mayoral power (or in the context of a GLA Subsidiary Company, a Company power);
 - The Official/ Legal Document can be executed for or on behalf of the Mayor, GLA and/or GLA Subsidiary Company; and
 - Includes the subsequent variation of the terms of the Official/ Legal Document in reliance of the original decision provided that the basis for that decision and the risks associated with it has not changed materially.
- 7.4 An "Official/ Legal Document" is a document (other than a decision form) that constitutes or implements the exercise of a Mayoral power or a Company power, in whatever form and by whatever name the document takes, where the document has or is intended to have legal force and effect.
 - This definition applies whether the Mayor, GLA or GLA Subsidiary Company is the sole signatory or does so with other parties;
 - It applies where nil or a stated value or other consideration (including nominal consideration or value) passes under the document;
 - It applies whether the document is executed as a deed or not;
 - It applies whether the form of execution is a personal signature or by affixing and attesting a corporate seal or it is executed by permitted electronic means;
 - It includes all associated documentation required by judicial, legal, administrative, public or official bodies undertaking functions in respect of the Official/ Legal Document or its subject-matter e.g. High Court or County Court "process" documents, Land Registry forms, Memorandum or Articles of Association and Companies House forms, Charity Commission forms, shares, stock certificates etc; and

- It also includes side letters, memorandums of understanding and heads of terms, which are not themselves legally binding but nonetheless have legal significance.
- 7.5 Annex 4 contains a non-exhaustive list of documents covered by the definition of Official/ Legal Document in paragraph 7.4 above.

GLA Seal

- 7.6 The GLA has a corporate seal. The application of the GLA Seal shall be authenticated by the signature of any one of the following:
 - the Mayor; or
 - any specified Senior Member of Staff.

Mayoral Reserved Matters

- 7.7 The Mayor may execute any Official/ Legal Document but only the Mayor may execute one connected or relating to a matter listed in Annex 1 (Mayoral Reserved Matters) unless:
 - The Urgency etc. procedures above apply (Annex 1 Part 2 matters only); or
 - As regards any Mayoral power (whether listed in Parts 1 or 2 of Annex 1 or not) the Mayor has, in accordance with this Scheme, taken and recorded the decision to which the Official/ Legal Document is connected, or to which it relates, and either:
 - the Mayor has authorised a specified Senior Member of Staff to execute the Document on his behalf (by Record in Writing); or
 - o a member of the Governance Team (by Record in Writing) has done so.

Specified Senior Members of Staff (General Delegation)

- 7.8 Each specified Senior Member of Staff acting in reliance of the General Delegation has Signatory Permission unless the Official/ Legal Document is listed or relates to a matter listed in Annex 1 (in which case authorisation may be obtained under paragraph 7.7 above).
- 7.9 Any specified Senior Member of Staff may (by Record in Writing) authorise another member of GLA Staff (whether listed in Annex 2 or not) to execute an Official/ Legal Document (other than one requiring execution by means of the GLA Seal) on his or her behalf where the former has, in accordance with this Scheme, taken the decision to which the Official/ Legal Document is connected or to which it relates.

GLA Legal Advisors

7.10 The GLA's Legal Advisors have authority to act as agents for the Mayor, GLA, a GLA Company Director and/or any GLA Subsidiary Company. As such the GLA's Legal Advisors have Signatory Permission on their behalf in respect of any Official/ Legal Document those persons could themselves sign or execute.

Section 8: All members of GLA staff

- 8.1 Without prejudice to the authorisations granted to specified Senior Members of Staff under the General Delegation and Company Director Delegation, this Scheme confirms that all GLA members of staff of whatever grade have, in the ordinary course of their duties within their areas of responsibility, and subject to the supervision or direction of their line manager and compliance with all applicable laws and GLA policies:
 - Permission to commit the GLA or GLA Subsidiary Company to routine expenditure and (subject to paragraph 5.14) to implement decisions by the appropriate person authorising non-routine expenditure: see Table 2;
 - Power to enter into routine communications and correspondence; and
 - Power to do anything on behalf of the Mayor, GLA, a GLA Company Director or a GLA Subsidiary Company which the member of staff concerned considers necessary or expedient for the purposes of undertaking (or preparing to undertake) the exercise of a Mayoral power or a Company power by such persons (including in relation to the matters listed in Annexe 1 or the PSI Application Powers) or which he or she considers facilitates, or is conducive or incidental to doing so.

Section 9: Updating the Scheme, further delegations and transitional provisions

- 9.1 The Head of Paid Service shall review the operation of this Scheme before the end of each financial year and make recommendations to the Mayor concerning any appropriate changes.
- 9.2 The Mayor may, by approval of a Mayoral Decision (MD) form, vary the terms of this Scheme from time to time. The Head of Paid Service may issue updates to Annexes 1 to 5 to this Scheme from time to time under paragraph 2.9 above. Additionally, following consultation with the Mayor, the Head of Paid Service may generally amend provisions of this Scheme (including those relating to GLA Subsidiary Companies and the Company Director Delegation) in so far as such changes do not significantly or materially alter the basis upon which Mayoral powers have been delegated. Otherwise the Mayor's consent by means of a Mayoral decision form (MD) will be required.
- 9.3 The Mayor may at any time grant authorisations to members of GLA staff, the Statutory Deputy Mayor and other persons and bodies under sections 38 or 380 of the GLA Act which are separate from and outside the scope of this Scheme. A GLA Subsidiary Company may also do the same.
- 9.4 Subject to paragraph 9.5 below, the authorisations to exercise Mayoral powers granted under this Scheme shall amend the operation of any delegation or authorisation to a member GLA staff under sections 38 or 380 of the GLA Act approved before 1 April 2013 (a "Pre-existing Delegation") with the effect that the Pre-existing Delegation shall continue in full force and effect but from 1 April 2013:
 - If the delegation was to a postholder who is listed in Annex 2 as a specified Senior Member of Staff then the Pre-existing Delegation shall operate as an authorisation

under the General Delegation (subject to applicable terms and conditions contained in Section 5 of this Scheme); and

• If the postholder is not such a person, then for the purpose of continuing to exercise the Pre-existing Delegation he or she shall be regarded as a specified Senior Member of Staff to whom the General Delegation applies with appropriate Signatory Permission (subject to any applicable terms and conditions contained in Section 5 above).

In either case, the Pre-existing Delegation shall operate accordingly.

- 9.5 To the extent that a Pre-existing Delegation, in either case as above:
 - Concerns the exercise of a power or matter listed in Annex 1 (Mayoral Reserved Matters); and/or
 - Gives power to agree, sign or execute any Official/Legal Document that is listed or relates to a matter listed in Annex 1;

then the exercise of the Pre-existing Delegation shall continue unaffected by, and shall prevail over, any condition or limitation or restriction contained in this Scheme (notwithstanding anything in paragraph 3.2, Section 6 and Section 7 to the contrary) but subject always to that person's continued compliance with the requirements of current Financial Regulations and the Contracts & Funding Code (unless the Pre-existing Delegation contained an express waiver from any of their requirements).

Section 10: Definitions and interpretation

10.1 Table 5 contains definitions of words and phrases used in this Scheme

Table5: Definitions

Affordable Housing Programme	Programme for the funding or provision of "Affordable Housing", as that term is defined from time to time in the Glossary of the National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) ⁵ or relevant successor document
CPO Compensation Claims	Claims for compensation against the GLA in consequence of the making of any compulsory purchase order including any liabilities transferred to the GLA as statutory successor of the Homes and Communities Agency, London Development Agency, London Thames Gateway Development Corporation or other body under a statutory transfer scheme
Company	includes a company under the Companies Act 2006 and (where relevant) a limited liability partnership under the Limited Liability Partnerships Act 2000
Company Director	the authorisation granted by a GLA Subsidiary Company to a

⁵ Page 50: see

.

Delegation	GLA Company Director to take actions and decisions, and to exercise Company powers for and on behalf of the company as set out in Section 4, on the basis and subject to the terms and conditions set out in Sections 5 and 7 above
Company power	see paragraph 4.5 above
Director (GLA rather than Company)	Chief of Staff, Head of Paid Service, Executive Director of Resources, Executive Director of Housing & Land, Executive Director of Development, Enterprise & Environment, Executive Director of Assembly Secretariat, and Director of Communications & External Affairs as listed in Annex 2
Decision form	Mayoral Decision Form (MD), Director Decision Form (DD), Assistant Director Decision Form (ADD), GLRO Approval Form (GLRO-AF), Delegated Authority Record (DAR) and a Record in Writing, and in relation to a GLA Subsidiary Company includes a board or company minute.
Financial commitment	See paragraph 5.11 above
General Delegation	the authorisation to specified Senior Members of Staff under sections 38 and 380 of the GLA Act to exercise Mayoral powers set out in Section 2 on the basis and subject to the terms and conditions set out in Sections 5, 6 and 7 above
GLA Act	Greater London Authority Act 1999 (as amended)
GLA Company Director	a specified Senior Member of Staff listed in Annex 3 who is a director of a GLA Subsidiary Company
GLA Legal Advisors	Transport for London's Legal Directorate and its Director of TfL Legal (or such other legal advisors to the GLA as may be appointed by the Executive Director of Resources from time to time)
GLA Subsidiary Company	a company listed in Annex 3 which is a subsidiary of the GLA within the meaning of that term given in section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006 (as amended)
GLRO and Deputy GLRO	the Greater London Returning Officer and his/ her appointed Deputy
Governance Team	Head of Governance & Resilience and the postholders reporting to that position
Manager (for approval of expenditure up to £10,000)	generally speaking, this will be a GLA member of staff with line management responsibilities who reports directly to an Assistant Director or "Head of"

Mayoral power	a function, power or duty as described in paragraph 1.5 above
MDC	a Mayoral development corporation established under section 198 of the Localism Act 2011
Non-routine financial commitment	see paragraph 5.12 above
Official/ Legal Document	see paragraph 7.4 above
Permission to Proceed	In relation to a proposal action or decision that is considered novel, contentious or repercussive, the authorisation given under paragraph 5.7 (last bullet) by any of the Mayor, Chief of Staff, Head of Paid Service or Governance Team to proceed without referring the matter to the Mayor for his/her personal approval under paragraph 5.6
Pre-existing Delegation	as defined in paragraph 9.4 above
Programme Expenditure (also known as non- routine expenditure")	see paragraph 5.12 above
Record in Writing	a record in auditable form whether in hardcopy or softcopy in a memo or in an email that is properly filed or archived, and is traceable and capable of retrieval
PSI Application Powers	the functions exercisable under sections 2A and 2B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) listed in paragraph 2.5 above
Routine financial commitment	see paragraph 5.12 above
Routine expenditure (also known as Non- Programme expenditure)	see paragraph 5.12 above
Routine Land and Property Transaction	any transaction by the GLA or a GLA Subsidiary Company (other than one requiring Mayoral Consent under Part 2 of Annex 1) concluded at arm's length on normal commercial terms which involves the acquisition or disposal of land or any interest in land or any licence or contractual term relating to or connected with land, non-exhaustive examples of which are given at paragraph 5.12 above
Specified Mayoral Appointee	Chief of Staff and those postholders appointed by the Mayor under section 67(1) or (2) of the GLA Act as are listed under

	the heading of "Mayoral Appointees" in Annex 2 (who are authorised to take Annex 1, Part 2 decisions under paragraph 3.3 above)
Specified Senior Member of Staff	as listed in Annex 2 (subject to paragraph 9.4 above)
Signatory Permission	as described in paragraph 7.3 above
Specified Activities Order	an order made by the Secretary of State under section 34A of the GLA Act
Staff	GLA staff appointed under either section 67(1) or (2) of the GLA Act
Urgency etc procedures	as set out in paragraphs 3.3 to 3.6 above

- 10.2 Any example given in this Scheme is provided for clarification and is not intended to be exhaustive. Where something is stated to be inclusive it shall not limit the general nature or scope of the matter to which it relates (e.g. the matters stated to be inclusive of the General Delegation in Section 5 above).
- 10.3 Reference to legislation includes any re-enactment or amendment.
- 10.4 The Head of Paid Service's interpretation of this Scheme shall be final.

ANNEX 1: RESERVED MAYORAL MATTERS

Subject to the *Urgency etc* procedures (which concern matters in Part 2 only of this Annex), the following Mayoral powers may only be exercised by the Mayor.

Part 1: Matters reserved by law to be exercised only by the Mayor

The Mayor may not delegate certain matters under statute, including under sections 38 and 380. The following is a non-exhaustive list and each Mayoral power should be checked to confirm that it is capable of delegation by the Mayor.

• Any Mayoral power that by its terms is prohibited from being delegated by the Mayor to anyone (whether a member of GLA staff or not) or by its terms it is apparent that the power is only to be exercised by the Mayor on a personal basis.

GLA Act

- The Mayor's functions under section 36 concerning the making of standing orders for the GLA by the Assembly: see s 36(12).
- The power to delegate functions under section 38 and the power to delegate the Mayor's Culture, Media and Sport functions under Part X of the GLA Act: see s 38(6)(a) and s 380(6)(a) respectively. (This means that the Mayor cannot delegate the power to delegate in section 38.)
- The exercise of the functions of a Minister of the Crown delegated to the Mayor under section 39A: see s 39A (6).
- Attendance by the Mayor at MQT meetings and answering questions put to him at such meetings under section 45(3).
- Attendance by the Mayor at the annual State of London debate meeting held under section 46
- Attendance by the Mayor at People's Question Time meetings held under section 48.
- The exercise of the Mayor's power of appointment of GLA staff under section 67(1): see s 36(6)(b).
- Appointments to the London based Regional Council of the Arts Council of England; the London regional committee or panel of the English Sports Council and Museums Libraries and Archives London under section 377A and the Greater London Authority (Mayor of London Appointments) Order 2008 (SI 2008/701): see s 380(6)(aa).
- The making of byelaws concerning Trafalgar Square and Parliament Square Gardens under section 385(1) of the GLA Act: see s 380.
- The duty to consider a report of the Head of Paid Service prepared under section 2 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 or the duty to consider a Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer report.

Other legislation

- The duties imposed on the Mayor to consider a report of the Head of Paid Service or GLA Monitoring Officer under sections 2 and 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989: see ss 72(8) and 73(12) of the GLA Act.
- The Mayor's consideration and attendance at a meeting of the Assembly called to consider a report by the GLA's chief finance officer (section 127 officer under the GLA Act) under section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.
- The Mayor's consideration and attendance at a meeting of the Assembly called to consider a report under section 8 or recommendations under section 11(3) of the Audit Commission Act 1998 in accordance with section 11A of that Act: s 11A(11) ACA 1998.
- The decision to issue a direction in relation to a borough's Local Development Scheme under section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).
- The functions of determining and keeping under review how much money the GLA or a Functional Body can afford to borrow under section 3(2) of the Local Government Act 2003: s 3(9) LGA 2003.

Part 2: Matters by policy considered appropriate for exercise normally only by the Mayor

The Mayor has indicated that he does not wish to delegate the following matters. This list is exhaustive.

- Appointment to a remunerated position established under section 30 of the GLA Act (disregarding the payment of travel or subsistence expenses/ allowances when on official business)
- Any other Mayoral appointment not falling within the above, including all GLA staff
 appointed under section 67 (1)(a) or (b) of the GLA Act, any statutory power of
 appointment to any other position, office or body, and any appointment to a nonremuneration position relying on section 30 of the GLA Act 1999.
- The GLA forming or acquiring interests in any company or other corporate body.
- The disposal of land held by the GLA for the purposes of housing or regeneration for less than the best consideration which can reasonably be obtained in circumstances where the General Consent issued under section 333ZC of the GLA Act requires that a specific consent from the Secretary of State is required.
- The acquisition or disposal by the GLA of the freehold of any land or the leasehold of land where the lease is for a term of 7 years or more.
- Approval in principle to the making of any Compulsory Purchase Order by the GLA under section 333ZA of the GLA Act.
- Approval of the text of the Mayoral strategies listed in section 41(1) for the purpose of submission to the Assembly under section 42B of the GLA Act and their subsequent

approval for the purposes of publication as his official strategy (other than the making of non-material changes to the text including the correction of errors⁶).

- The giving of statutory directions and/or guidance to
 - o functional bodies: TfL under sections 155(1) and 174(1) of the GLA Act; to LFEPA under section 328A of the GLA Act; and to a MDC under section 220 of the Localism Act 2011:
 - the London Waste and Recycling Board under sections 356, 357 and 358 of the GLA
 Act:
 - London borough councils as regards their local air quality control functions under s
 85 of the Environment Act 1995;
 - Any other person or body where such a statutory power exists.
- The Mayor's functions concerning the annual budget process as set out in sections 85 to 99 of the GLA Act, including the Mayor's functions under Schedules 6 and 7, and the presentation of the draft consolidated and final draft budgets to the Assembly under that Schedule.
- The granting of an exemption under section 36 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
- The confirmation by the Mayor of an order establishing a road user charging scheme under section 295 and Schedule 23 of the GLA Act including the confirmation of any order varying or revoking such a scheme.
- The approval (where required) of arrangements involving the GLA for the provision or delegation of professional technical or administrative services or functions under section 401A of the GLA Act.
- The giving of Mayoral consent under sections 120 or 121 of the GLA Act to the making of capital or revenue grants between the GLA and/or between functional bodies.
- The giving of Mayoral consent to either of: (1) the disposal of land by a MDC for less than the best consideration that can reasonably be obtained or (2) the disposal of land which has been compulsorily acquired by the MDC, as respectively required by section 209 (1) and (3) of the Localism Act 2011.

_

⁶ Such corrections and non-material changes are covered by the General Delegation

ANNEX 2: SPECIFIED SENIOR MEMBERS OF STAFF

Directors \$

Chief of Staff *

Head of Paid Service: also Executive Director of Communities & Intelligence and GLRO

Executive Director of Resources

Executive Director of Housing & Land

Executive Director of Development, Enterprise & Environment

Executive Director of Assembly Secretariat: also Deputy GLRO

Director of Communications & External Affairs *

Mayoral appointees

Deputy Mayor for Education & Culture * Senior Advisor: Environment & Energy *

Senior Advisor for Team London, Volunteering, Charities & Sponsorship *

Mayor's Office

Head of Government & EU Relations International Relations Manager

Communications & External Affairs

Assistant Director of External Relations Head of Media Head of Public & Community Liaison

Development, Enterprise & Environment

Assistant Director of Economic & Business Policy Assistant Director of Planning Assistant Director of Regeneration Assistant Director of Environment Head of Transport

Housing & Land

Assistant Director of Programme, Policy & Services Assistant Director of Strategic Projects & Property Head of Area (North West) Head of Area (North East) Head of Area (South)

\$ denotes GLA staff classified as Directors for the purposes of this Scheme

[#] denotes specified Mayoral appointees for the purposes of this Scheme

^{*} denotes GLA staff appointed by the Mayor under section 67(1) of the GLA Act

Communities & Intelligence/Corporate Management Team

Assistant Director of Intelligence Assistant Director of Health & Communities Assistant Director, Team London Head of Governance & Resilience

Resources

Assistant Director of Group Finance
Assistant Director of Human Resources & Organisational Development
Head of Financial Services
Head of Facilities Management
Head of Information Technology
European Programmes Director

Assembly Secretariat

Head of Scrutiny & Investigation Head of Committee & Member Services

ANNEX 3: CURRENT GLA SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

a. Greater London Authority Holdings Limited (Company Number 07923665)

Status: GLA subsidiary company

Type: UK company limited by shares

Directors:

- Martin David Clarke;
- David Simon Lunts; and
- Sir Edward Julian Udny-Lister.

Shareholder: Greater London Authority

Shareholder's Representative: Executive Director of Resources

b. GLA Land and Property Limited (Company Number 07911046)

Status: GLA subsidiary company

Type: UK company limited by shares

Directors:

- Martin David Clarke;
- David Simon Lunts; and
- Sir Edward Julian Udny-Lister.

Shareholder: Greater London Authority Holdings Limited

Shareholder's Representative: Executive Director of Resources

ANNEX 4: EXAMPLES OF OFFICIAL / LEGAL DOCUMENTS

The following is a non-exhaustive list of documents covered by the definition of "Official/Legal Document" in paragraph 7.4 above:

- Byelaws e.g. Trafalgar Square and Parliament Square;
- Certificates, designations, specifications or confirmations of any kind;
- Company forms: articles and memorandum of association, share certificates etc
- Transfers, conveyances, contracts and agreements relating to land or interests in land of all kinds e.g. to create, acquire, grant, transfer, sell, extinguish or dispose of land and/or interests in land of any type;
- Contracts of all other kinds: e.g. contracts of employment, contracts for works, services or supplies, intellectual and other tangible or intangible property etc;
- Consents or approvals of any kind;
- "Court process" documents of any kind used before any court or tribunal or arbitrator or similar person/ body having appropriate jurisdiction whether in England and Wales or elsewhere: e.g. claim forms, summonses, acknowledgements of service, defences, witness statements, orders, notices etc;
- Section 106 and Development agreements etc;
- Agreements under section 5 or section 278 of the Highways Act 1980
- Directions of any kind: e.g. from the Mayor to a functional body, to London boroughs regarding air quality or local implementation plans, to waste disposal and collection authorities etc;
- Regulations of any kind;
- Grant agreements;
- Guarantees and indemnities;
- Leases, assignments, licences etc;
- Letters, demands, opinions and accounts etc;
- Loan, borrowing and finance agreements;
- Memoranda of understanding, heads of terms or agreement, side letters and letters of intent and the like (including where subject to contract)
- Mortgages or charges or debentures;
- Notices of any kind: e.g. notices of entry or to treat, notices to quit, notices under the Companies Acts, shareholder notices, etc;
- Orders of all kinds: e.g. compulsory purchase orders, road traffic orders, GLA road and sideroad designation orders;
- Partnership agreements: LLPs or limited partnerships;

- Procurement documents of all kinds including OJEU notices of any type, invitations to negotiate or tender, conditions of contract etc;
- Share certificates and stock forms etc; and
- Statutory transfer schemes.